brought to you by 🗓 CORE



Limnologica



Review Methods for biological assessment of salt-loaded running waters – fundamentals, current positions and perspectives

Horst Ziemann^a, Claus-Jürgen Schulz^{b,*}

^a Am Königsborn 6, D-99096 Erfurt, Germany

^b Thüringer Landesanstalt für Umwelt und Geologie, Göschwitzer Straße 41, D-07745 Jena, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 10 June 2010 Accepted 21 September 2010

Keywords: Ciliates Diatoms Macroinvertebrates Halobion Index Salinity Index River salinisation

ABSTRACT

Salinisation of running waters is a severe problem in many parts of the world. Monitoring and management of such waters require ecological methods which consider the hydrochemical effects of salinisation on the aquatic communities in order to set targets to protect habitats and biodiversity. Several bioassays have been developed for this purpose and are surveyed here. They are based on the salt sensitivity of the following groups of organisms: diatoms, ciliates and macroinvertebrates. In this paper experiences gained so far are also considered as well as practical applications originating from this research. © 2010 Elsevier GmbH. All rights reserved.

Contents

Fundamentals	90
Chemical basics of salinity of inland rivers	90
The P-value	91
Biotoxic effects of salinised waters	91
Terminology: primary and secondary salinisation; thalassogenic and athalassogenic waters	92
Methods measuring the biological effects of salinisation	92
Diatom-based methods	92
Sensitivity of diatoms towards salinity and the specific conductance index	92
The Halobion Index	92
Practical applied aspects	93
Relations between Halobion Index and water chemistry	93
Ecotoxicological testing procedures	93
Use of LC-values and Salinity Index	93
Applications of the ecotoxicological approach: a risk assessment framework	94
The ciliate assay	94
Perspectives	94
References	94

Fundamentals

Chemical basics of salinity of inland rivers

Salinity is a major characteristic of all waters. It is an abiotic factor which markedly influences the living conditions of aquatic organisms (Schönborn 2003). Fresh waters are typically calcium hydrogen carbonate waters (standard ion combination, Rohde 1949). Depending on the geological conditions prevailing in the catchment area, it is distinguished between (i) siliceous waters which are poor in electrolytes and (ii) carbonate waters rich in electrolytes (Braukmann 1987; Schönborn 2003).

The term "salinity" is usually used for the total concentration of dissolved inorganic ions in the water, namely Na⁺, K⁺, Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺, Cl⁻, SO₄²⁻ and HCO₃⁻. It is specified as mg L⁻¹, g L⁻¹ and g kg⁻¹, respectively. Another summarising measure often used is the elec-

^{*} Corresponding author. E-mail address: Claus-Juergen.Schulz@tlug.thueringen.de (C.-J. Schulz).

^{0075-9511/\$ -} see front matter © 2010 Elsevier GmbH. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.limno.2010.09.005



Fig. 1. (a) Relations between chloride concentrations and total salinity (*S*) as found for the rivers Wipper, Unstrut and Weser (Germany). (b) Relations between chloride concentrations and the total salinity chloride quotient (*S*/Cl⁻) as found for the rivers Wipper, Unstrut and Weser (Germany).

trical conductivity (EC). It is standardised to 25 °C and expressed as μ S cm⁻¹ or mS cm⁻¹. Since the ion proportions of inland salt waters differ considerably (Albrecht 1954; Schmitz 1959), a categorization based on salt concentration only may be problematical. Therefore the different proportions of further ions are sometimes used (Hedgepeth 1959).

Typical salt waters may be characterised as alkaline salt waters. According to the degree of salinisation, ion proportions change continually from fresh to salt water what may influence the biological effect of salinisation (Ziemann 1997a). During this change the chemical character of the water also shifts from calcium-hydrogencarbonate to alkali-chloride-dominated.

Although the degree of salinisation of inland waters is usually characterised by the chloride concentration, it is not possible to conclude the total salt concentration from the chloride concentration. However, from the ratio between total salinity (or electrical conductivity) and chloride concentration the geochemical type of the water and a given salinisation can be deduced (Table 1, from Ziemann 1997b).

Chloride concentrations exceeding \sim 50–60 mg L⁻¹ and ratios <12–15 point at types of waters which deviate from the basic limnic type. Fig. 1a and b shows the changes of the salinity/Cl⁻-ratio occurring with increasing salinity when comparing several waters in Thuringia (Central Germany). The ratio decreases with increasing chloride concentrations, reaching a value around 2 in strongly salinised waters independently of the basis. Fig. 1a and b also illustrates the differences in aquatic chemistry between the rivers Unstrut and Wipper (Thuringia, Germany) on the one hand with their high proportions of calcium sulfate in comparison to other rivers of this region (e.g., rivers Werra and Weser) on the other hand. Here, concentrations are considerably lower. As a consequence, in the rivers Werra and Weser sodium chloride dominates already at distinctly lower total salt concentrations than in the rivers Unstrut and Wipper (Ziemann 1967).

The P-value

The so-called "P-value" is a quantification of the combined effect of salt concentration and ion proportion, calculating the product of

Table 1

Ratios between total salinity and conductivity, respectively, and chloride concentrations of some common chemical types of waters according to data from Thuringian running waters (Germany).

Ratio total salinitiy/Cl [_]	Ratio conductivity/Cl [_]	Chemical type of waters
>8<12	>10<15	Siliceous waters
>12	>15	Carbonate waters
<4	<6	Salinised waters (alkali-chloride waters)

total salinity (*S*, in gL^{-1}) and the percentage the alkali metal ions contribute to the sum of alkali metal and alkaline earth metal ions (in mval L^{-1} , Ziemann 1981, 1997a):

$$P = \frac{(Na^{+} + K^{+}) \times 100}{Na^{+} + K^{+} + Ca^{2+} + Mg^{2+}} \times S$$
(1)

As demonstrated by Ziemann (1981, 1997a), this relation holds good for fresh water and a transition zone up to the border of salinised water where alkaline ions dominate over calcium ions. Their antagonistic activity is thus not effective any more. This is the case if the ratio Na⁺/Ca²⁺ (in mval L⁻¹) is >1, corresponding to a *P*-value between 80 and 100. A close correlative connection exists between the *P*-value and the chloride concentrations up to about 1000 mg L⁻¹. Thus it seems to be possible to estimate the ecological impact of salinity by means of the chloride concentration without the time-consuming determination of the *P*-value (Ziemann 1997b, Fig. 2.)

Biotoxic effects of salinised waters

The biotoxic effects of salinisation are usually due to (i) the osmotic effects of the total salt concentration and (ii) to the ion proportions (Schönborn 2003; Ziemann 1971). In general, the predominating ion concentration is correlated with salinity and changes when salinity increases or decreases. Often salt waters are found to contain comparatively increased proportions of single ions such as Mg²⁺ and SO4^{2–} which modify the biological effect of these waters in comparison to those of typical alkali-chloride waters (Schönborn 2003; Ziemann 1967). In some cases, special toxic effects may occur due to a surplus of single ions such as K⁺ originating, for example, from brines from potash works or sodium

correlation between chloride concentration and P-value

P = 5,044 + 0,131 Cl



Fig. 2. Correlation between chloride concentrations and P-value.

carbonate waters (Albrecht 1954; Buhse 1989; Ziemann 1971). As recorded by Albrecht (1984b), the Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺-ratio should be >1 which crucially favours conditions of living. Ratios below this value may cause toxic effects for members of the aquatic community. However, due to the considerably varying ion proportions, no general relation between total salinity (*S*) and its biological effects can be given with regard to inland waters.

Terminology: primary and secondary salinisation; thalassogenic and athalassogenic waters

In contrast to coastal brackish waters whose salinity is markedly influenced by seawater, salinisation of inland waters may be of a very different origin. In general, it is often distinguished between primary (natural) and secondary (anthropogenic) salinisation (Schönborn 2003). Natural causes of salinisation are, for example, salt springs from salt mines and high irrigation rates in arid areas. In contrast to this, anthropogenic salinisation is due to human activities such as the introduction of salt-containing effluents from salt mining, brine baths, special industries, irrigation and use of road salts. Due to human activities, secondary salinisation has developed to one of the most important anthropogenic surface water contaminations in arid and semi-arid climates (Williams 1999).

Another approach differentiates between thalassogenic (=marine) and athalassogenic (=non-marine) waters. The term "athalassogenic" was introduced by Bayly (1967, 1969) to distinguish inland salt waters from thalassogenic brackish waters based on the fact that due to the various origin of the salts, their composition may differ considerably among different waters. Moreover, besides the various proportions single ions contribute to the total amount of salt, seasonal changes in salinity as well as hydrographic conditions (springs, brooks, rivers, lakes) induce settlement by different aquatic organisms and thus distinct aquatic communities develop which are distinct between marine habitats and those of inland salt waters. For example, freshwater fauna consists primarily of specifically adapted species of limnetic origin which in turn are absent from marine brackish waters (Williams 1981). This has also been found for diatoms (Jahn and Wendker 1987).

Methods measuring the biological effects of salinisation

Salinity is reflected by the composition of the running water aquatic communities (Mayenco 1993; Piscart et al. 2005, 2006; Remane 1971; Schulz 2000; Schulz and Bellstedt 2000; Short et al. 1991; Velasco et al. 2006). To document and to quantify this, several methods have been developed and become part of monitoring programmes. In Australia, e.g., comprehensive investigations on toxicological basis were performed (Kefford et al. 2003, 2004a, 2007a,b). Since many of the salinised waters are NaCl-dominated here, the structures of benthic aquatic communities of many rivers have been analysed and $LC_{(50)}$ -values have been determined (Kefford et al. 2003). In these cases, factors such as overirrigation and dryland salinisation had led to increasing salinities of rivers by the time. Also a procedure for ascertaining targets for protecting surface waters has been developed (Dunlop and McGregor 2007; Hart et al. 2003; Kefford et al. 2007b; Sim et al. 2007).

In Germany, especially (i) the Halobion Index (Ziemann 1971, 1999) and (ii) the ciliate-based salinity indication method (Nolting and Rustige 1999) were developed. Different from Australia, the main intention of these indications was to evaluate the ecological consequences of introducing salt brines from potash mining works into rivers in order to document the changes in aquatic ecology taking place after termination of potash mining and to set targets for river protection.

Table 2

The Halobion S	ystem.
----------------	--------

- Polyhalobic diatom species: salinity S ≥ 30 (Euryhaline species may undergo S = 30)
- 2. Mesohalobic diatom species:
 - (a) Euryhaline mesohalobic diatom species: S = 0.2-30
 - (b) $\alpha\mbox{-Mesohalobic diatom species: minimum NaCl required about S = 10$
- (c) β -Mesohalobic diatom species: S=0.2-10
- 3. Oligohalobic diatom species:
- (a) Halophilic diatom species
- (b) Indifferent diatom species
- 4. Halophobic (haloxenic) diatom species

Diatom-based methods

Sensitivity of diatoms towards salinity and the specific conductance index

Diatom assemblages are well-known to be a suitable basis for the categorization of inland salt waters according to the biological effects of salinity (Hustedt 1957; Ziemann 1971) The close connection between the occurrence of certain diatom species and the salinity of the water body had already been described by Heiden (1902). He divided the diatom taxa into 7 ecologically characterised groups considering also their salinity requirements. Kolbe (1927) established the Halobion System which was developed later on by Hustedt (1957) and Simonsen (1962) see Table 2.

Briefly, this system is based on the finding that there are specific indicative diatom taxa for all levels of salinity (Ziemann 1999). Consequently, different diatom assemblages are to be expected which are adapted to the actual salinity. This was confirmed later by further investigations (Blinn 1993, 1995; Blinn and Bailey 2001; Blinn et al. 2004). On the basis of frequencies of the single species in waters of different salinities, Blinn (1993) proposed an autecological characterisation by means of a so-called "specific conductance index":

$$SCI_{x} = \frac{\sum^{N_{x}} [Log 10 (RA_{i} \times 100)] (specific conductance)}{N_{x}}$$
(2)

with RA_i is the relative frequency (%) with which species *x* occurs at a given sampling location and *N* is the number of sampling locations where species *x* was found. The index (SCI) allows calculation of a ranking numeric value for each diatom species indicating the reaction of a diatom species to the salinity of the particular waters.

The Halobion Index

Relating to the sensibility of the diatoms towards salinity, the structure of the diatom community of a given sample can be described by means of the Halobion Index (Ziemann 1971, 1999):

$$H = \frac{\sum h_H - \sum h_x}{\sum h} \times 100$$
(3)

The sums of abundances used in the formula above are those of halobiontic and halophilic diatom species (Σh_H), of halophobic (haloxenic) (Σh_x) and of all species (Σh). The Halobion Index may thus be looked upon as a measure for the complex impact of the salinity on the diatom coenosis and the biological effects of the salinity, respectively. Negative Halobion Indices characterise waters of low salinity and pH-values below 7. Indices around 0 point to typical fresh waters and positive values ($\geq 10-15$) indicate increased salinities.

By means of the Halobion Indices, concentration-dependent changes in the structure of diatom assemblages were presented (i) during an annual period (in Central Europe: spring to autumn, Ziemann et al. 2001), (ii) along the transect of a running water (Busse et al. 1999) and (iii) over several years (Hofmann 1997; Ziemann 1967, 2005, 2006; Ziemann et al. 2001). Different levels of biological effects of salinisation can be expressed by the occurrence of distinct diatom species and the specific structure of diatom communities. These ranges which are defined exclusively biologically represent halobiotopes and thus form also the basis for a biologically based classification of inland waters (Ziemann 1971, 1997b).

Practical applied aspects

In practice, several modifications to calculate the Halobion Index of a given sampling location have become common. In the latest original version (Ziemann 1999), all diatom species (including rare forms) found in a sample are to be considered. Prior to the final calculation, the numerical frequencies are transformed to abundancies by means of a six-step scale.

Variations of the method may concern for example the limit of a number of frustules to be counted, the usage of a limited catalogue of indicative species (species not listed are neglected), consideration of centric species and changes or the complete omission of the transforming step. E.g., the instruction protocol of the EU Water Framework Directive provides for a total number of 400 frustules to be counted (no separate screening of the slides for rare species, no complete qualitative aspect). It is based on the compilation of a limited number of indicator species and on a five-step scale (Schaumburg et al. 2006). These modifications make the indices of different running waters of one sampling year comparable to each other. However, such changes can influence the results: in the given case, the comparison of data within the same water body of several years does not work (Coring and Bäthe 2008). Since in the list of indicator species the different values of indication of the diatom species within the Halobion System is missing, an internal ecological interpretation of the results is impossible. Consequently, this modification cannot be used to document improvements or degradation of the status of salinisation of a river.

Data from Central Europe show that Halobion Index results may depend distinctly on the sampling season (Ziemann et al. 2001): they are strongly influenced by the two factors, hydrological conditions and qualitative composition of the diatom assemblages, both being markedly seasonal. In spring, qualitative proportions of the diatom species may change comparatively quickly, and data from samples taken at that time are thus often of limited value. In summer, late summer and early autumn proportions become more stable and thus are more representative. As also shown by the authors, the substrate (pebbles, stones, phytal, etc.) from which the diatom material is taken may also influence the results. Thus, to get comparable data it is essential that sampling seasons, hydrological conditions and substrates are comparable to each other.

Relations between Halobion Index and water chemistry

The biological effects of salinity on diatom communities can be varied by specific actions of single ions or ion combinations. Within the oligohalobic to lower mesohalobic range, the relations between Halobion Indices and salinity vary due to the antagonistic effect of the calcium as opposed to the alkaline proportion. In stronger salted waters, an elevated proportion of potassium increases the toxic effects (Buhse 1989; Neumann 1962; Ziemann 1967, 1968, 1997a,b). In the same way increasing concentrations of magnesium and/or sulfate as well as increasing pH values may amplify toxic effects of salinity on the diatoms. This holds also good for elevated pH values, especially in combination with raised sodium/calcium ratios in sodium carbonate waters (Blinn 1993; Blinn et al. 2004; Hustedt 1957; Strecker 1997; Ziemann 2002). Further factors modifying the effects of salinity may be (i) considerable fluctuations in salinity, (ii) nutrient concentrations, (iii) oxygen conditions and organic pollution, (iv) water temperature and light supply, (v) current and substrate conditions, (vi) impacts with toxic effects leading to decimation (Snoeijs 1999; Ziemann 1999).

Under especially extreme or fluctuating conditions when either salt concentrations exceed the maximum tolerance levels of the single species or other toxic effects mask the effects of salinity, the Halobion Index cannot be used (Ziemann 1999). Thus it is always necessary to subject the Halobion Indices to a specific analysis and to check them for plausibility.

Ecotoxicological testing procedures

Use of LC-values and Salinity Index

Salinity tolerance of macroinvertebrates is usually determined in two ways, namely by means of data from field distributions and by lab experiments (Horrigan et al. 2007; Kefford et al. 2003). In the first case, maximum salinity is given at which a species was observed in the field (maximum field distribution, see Rutherford and Kefford 2005). In the latter case, results are given as LC_x values representing that concentration of a compound which induces a specified vital sign for x% (commonly 5, 10, 25 and 50%) of the test organisms after a standard incubation time (commonly 72 or 96 h). Values may relate to very different vital signs such as mortality, changes in reproduction, growth, behaviour, physiology, etc. Salinity thresholds for individual species based on these values can be defined as short-term (acute) or long-term (chronic) effects (Kefford et al. 2007b). The advantage of this kind of tests is that they establish a causal connection between salinity and responses measured. However, care must be taken not to oversimplify the complexity of nature and thus to falsely predict the effects of salinity on organisms in nature (Kefford et al. 2004a).

LC₅₀ values have been measured for a variety of macro- and microinvertebrates, especially from Australian sampling locations (Kefford et al. 2003, 2005, 2007a; Dunlop and McGregor 2007). The data showed that laboratory salinity tolerances of freshwater animals corresponded with their field salinities (Kefford et al. 2004a).

Within one species, salinity tolerance may differ to a certain extent if the sampling locations are located very distant from each other (Dunlop et al. 2008). Younger life stages may be more salinity sensitive than their mature stages, but this is not always true (Kefford et al. 2004b). Moreover, it was demonstrated that the usual assumption of the threshold response to toxic salinities does not hold good for any case: deviations such as inverted U-shaped response occurred also (Kefford et al. 2007b). Due to all of these reasons, LC₅₀ values should not be taken alone when setting targets. For prediction purposes, they are to be multiplied by safety factors (Dunlop and McGregor 2007; Kefford et al. 2007b). Another possibility is to use the Acute to Chronic Ratio (ACR) also incorporating sub-lethal effects of salinity (Kefford et al. 2007b).

Changes in the macroinvertebrate communities associated with a salinity gradient can be expressed by means of the Salinity Index by Horrigan et al. (2005). For this, a salinity sensitivity score is assigned to each macroinvertebrate taxon (1 – very tolerant, 5 – tolerant, 10 – sensitive to salinity). The Salinity Index (SI) based on the cumulative sensitivity scores can be calculated as follows (Horrigan et al. (2005)):

Salinity Index (SI) =
$$\frac{\sum X_i \times SSS_i}{n}$$

with $X_i = 1$ if taxon *i* was present, $X_i = 0$ if missing, SSS_i = salt sensitivity score of taxon *i* and *n* = the total number of taxa in a given sample. The SI may range from 1 (all taxa of a given sam-

ple are highly tolerant to salinity) to 10 (all taxa are sensitive), indicating the average salinity sensitivity of the macrozoobenthos community of a sampling location. Horrigan et al. (2007) demonstrated that acute toxicity data largely reflect the salinity sensitivity of stream macroinvertebrates derived by using field distributions. They showed that LC_{50} values from acute toxicity tests were significantly correlated with maximum field conductivities and sensitivity scores.

In toxicity tests being performed with artificial (=equilibrated) seawater, changes in the chemical *in vivo*-composition must be taken into account. In acute toxicity tests, no differences between responses of invertebrates to several ionic compositions tested were found. However, some effects were observed in prolonged tests (Zalizniak et al. 2006): here, low calcium concentrations seem to be detrimental. Schmitz et al. (1967) found that the salt tolerance may be reduced by an increase of the proportions of both magnesium (coinciding with increasing sodium proportions) and potassium whereas rising proportions of calcium enhance salt tolerance. High pH values increase sub-lethal effects of salinity. The effect of water temperature on sub-lethal salinity tolerance is still unclear. Increasing salinity decreases toxicity of most metals; however, it makes organic phosphates more toxic (Kefford et al. 2007b).

Applications of the ecotoxicological approach: a risk assessment framework

Data based on acute toxicity tests of macroinvertebrates can be used to protect particular species of this group. Data from Australian investigations suggest so far that salinity targets for protecting salt-sensitive freshwater macroinvertebrates will protect all biological groups found in freshwater (Kefford et al. 2007b). To protect all biodiversity, a ten-step protocol for deriving thresholds was developed (Dunlop and McGregor 2007). It considers the background of salt concentrations, the taxa requiring protection and their sensitivities to salinity, the salt sensitivity distribution and locally relevant factors.

Various factors may make deviations from this scheme necessary (Kefford et al. 2007b), e.g., (i) temporal changes and/or total duration of salinity, (ii) special ionic compositions and (iii) special chemical properties of saline waters (low or pH values, concomittant presence of metals or organic compounds).

The ciliate assay

Albrecht (1983) described various communities of ciliated protoza living in salt-polluted mining waters and their value for indication. From this, an assay for salt indication of waters by means of ciliates was developed (Albrecht 1986; Nolting and Rustige 1999). For this, aquatic benthic ciliates are removed from natural substrates such as pebbles, wood, macrophytes, etc. Artificial substrates exposed for 2-4 weeks in situ can also be used. All substrates are evaluated by determining the ciliates by use of a microscope. In this way, ciliate coenoses are identified which can be assigned to chloride ranges. Ciliate species are differently sensitive to salinity (Albrecht 1983, 1984a; Mihailowitsch 1989; Nolting and Rustige 1998; Riedel-Lorje 1981; Rustige 1995a,b; Rustige et al. 1997) the occurrence of single species indicates upper and lower limits of the degree of salt concentrations, respectively. Along a salt gradient, characteristic differences within the aspect-forming ciliate taxa become visible.

Although the ciliate assay covers a group of organisms of substantial relevance for the functioning of running waters ecosystems, only a few results obtained from the ciliate assay have been reported so far (Albrecht 1986). A probable reason for this may be that the application of this method requires a strong background in taxonomy of ciliates by the user which is often lacking. Another aspect is that the results are not reducible to a numerical value and thus are comparatively less precise, e.g., for applied and water management purposes.

Perspectives

Although comprehensive knowledge concerning biological effects of salinisation of freshwater streams is available by now, several problems are subject to future research. In general, it can be stated that despite all progress reported in this paper, there is still neither an assay available for an integrated biologically based assessment of salinised running waters nor a method considering effects of special ions such as K⁺ or Mg⁺⁺ (see part I. 3.). The latter aspect is of special interest for those cases where e.g., effluents from salt mining are introduced into freshwaters resulting in athalassogenic conditions. Further research and development are necessary here.

With regard to the acute toxicity testing approach, Kefford et al. (2007b) have pointed to several questions which are still being clarified. E.g., safety factors must be calculated in such a way that they also include indirect and sub-lethal effects of salinity. It is unclear whether aquatic communities of running waters that have experienced salinisation for a long time are less salt-sensitive in comparison to waters where salinisation is of shorter duration. The effect of temporarily varying salinity on freshwater organisms is still not understood, and this holds also true for the interaction between salinity and other abiotic parameters such as hydrology. Application of the acute toxicity approach outside Australia requires determination of LC_{50} values of further macroinvertebrate taxa; for water management purposes it would also be desirable to adapt the ten-step protocol framework to non-equilibrated inland salt waters.

With regard to the Halobion Index, results obtained from slight to moderately salinised sampling locations may show an overestimation of halophilic species. A different assessment of the individual indicator species is to be aspired weighting halobiontic species more heavily than halophilic forms. Further steps such as the implementation of a special factor may probably also enhance the precision of the results.

References

- Albrecht, J., 1983. Salzbelastung und Ciliatenbesiedlung (Protozoa: Ciliophora) im Weser-Flussgebiet (Fulda, Werra, Weser, Leine, Innerste). Diss. Bonn University, Germany.
- Albrecht, J., 1984a. Zur Autökologie ausgewählter Aufwuchsciliaten im Weserflusssystem Prototozoa: Ciliophora). Decheniana (Bonn) 137, 132–167.
- Albrecht, J., 1984b. Gewässerbelastung und Makroinvertebraten-Besiedlung im Weser-Flussgebiet (Fulda, Werra, Oberweser, Leine, Innerste). Mitteilungen aus dem niedersächsischen Wasseruntersuchungsamt Hildesheim (Germany) 10, 60–99.
- Albrecht, J., 1986. Periphyton (Aufwuchs) communities of ciliated protozoa in saltpolluted running waters of the weser river basin – their structure and indicator value (including model ecosystems). Int. Rev. Ges. Hydrobiol. 71 (2), 187–224.
- Albrecht, M.-L., 1954. Die Wirkung der Kaliabwässer auf die Fauna der Werra und Wipper. Z. Fischerei NF 3, 401–426.
- Bayly, I.A.E., 1967. The general biological classification of aquatic environments with special reference to those of Australia. In: Weatherly, A.H. (Ed.), Studies on Australian Inland Waters and Their Fauna. Australian National University Press, Canberra.
- Bayly, I.A.E., 1969. Introductory comments. Symposium on salt and brackish inland waters. Verh. Intern. Ver. Limnol. 17, 419–420.
- Blinn, D.W., 1993. Diatom community structure along physicochemical gradients in saline lakes. Ecology 74, 1246–1263.
- Blinn, D.W., 1995. Diatom community structure along salinity gradients in Australian saline lakes: biogeographic comparisons with other continents. In: Kociolek, P., Sulivan, M. (Eds.), A Century of Diatom Research in North America. Special Symposium for Reimer and Patrick Festschrift. Koeltz Scientific Books Koenigstein, Germany, pp. 163–174.
- Blinn, D.W., Bailey, P.C.E., 2001. Land-use influence on stream water quality and diatom communities in Victoria, Australia: a response to secondary salinization. Hydrobiologia 466, 231–244.

- Blinn, D.W., Halse, S.A., Pinder, A.M., Shiel, R.J., McRae, J.M., 2004. Diatom and micro-invertebrate communities and environmental determinants in the western Australian wheatbelt: a response to salinization. Hydrobiologia 528, 229–248.
- Braukmann, U., 1987. Zoozönologische und saprobiologische Beiträge zu einer allgemeinen regionalen Bachtypologie. Ergebnisse der Limnologie 26, 1–355.
- Buhse, G., 1989. Schadwirkungen der Kali-Abwässer im Biotop der Werra und Oberweser. Z. Wasser-Abwasserforsch. 22, 49–56.
- Busse, S., Jahn, R., Schulz, C.-J., 1999. Desalinization of running waters: II. Benthic diatom communities: a comparative field study on responses to decreasing salinity. Limnologica 29, 465–474.
- Coring, E., Bäthe, J., 2008. Zur Entwicklung der aquatischen Flora und Primärproduktion im Zuge veränderter Salzeinleitungen in das Fließgewässer-Ökosystem der Werra. In: Jahrestagung (Münster) der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Limnologie (DGL), Werder (Germany), pp. 312–325.
- Dunlop, J.E., McGregor, G., 2007. Setting water quality guidelines for salinity and sediment in freshwater streams in Queensland. National Action Plan for Salinity and Water Quality. Technical Report Series, 62 pp.
- Dunlop, J.E., Horrigan, N., McGregor, G., Kefford, B.J., Choy, S., Prasad, R., 2008. Effect of spatial variation on salinity tolerance of macroinvertebrates in Eastern Australia and implications for ecosystem protection trigger values. Environ. Pollut. 151 (3), 621–630.
- Hart, B.T., Lake, P.S., Webb, J.A., Grace, M.R., 2003. Ecological risk to aquatic systems from salinity increases. Aust. J. Bot. 51, 689–702.
- Heiden, H., 1902. Die Diatomeen aus den postglazialen Ablagerungen des Warnemünder Hafenbaues. Mitt. Großh. Mecklenb. Geol. Landesanst. 14, 7–33.
- Hedgepeth, J.W., 1959. Some preliminary considerations of the biology of inland mineral waters. Arch. Oceanogr. Limnol. 11 (Suppl.), 111–141.
- Hofmann, G., 1997. Diatom communities in the rivers Werra and Ulster (Germany) and their response to reduced salinity. Limnologica 27, 77–84.
- Horrigan, N., Choy, S., Marshall, J., Recknagel, F., 2005. Response of stream macroinvertebrates to changes in salinity and the development of a salinity index. Mar. Freshwater Res. 56, 825–833.
- Horrigan, N., Dunlop, J.E., Kefford, B.J., Zavahir, F., 2007. Acute toxicity largely reflects the salinity sensitivity of stream macroinvertebrates derived using field distributions. Mar. Freshwater Res. 58, 178–186.
- Hustedt, F., 1957. Die Diatomeenflora des Flusssystems der Weser im Gebiet der Hansestadt Bremen. Abh. Naturw. Ver. Bremen. 34, 181–440.
- Jahn, R., Wendker, S., 1987. Untersuchungen zur Diatomeenflora der Werra einem extrem salzbelasteten Biotop. Nova Hedwigia 44, 163–173.
- Kefford, B.J., Papas, P.J., Nugegoda, D., 2003. Relative salinity tolerance of macroinvertebrates from the Barwon River, Victoria. Aust. Mar. Freshwater Res. 54, 755–765.
- Kefford, B.J., Papas, P.J., Metzeling, L., Nugegoda, D., 2004a. Do laboratory salinity tolerances of freshwater animals correspond with their field salinity? Environ. Pollut, 129, 355–362.
- Kefford, B.J., Dalton, A., Palmer, C.G., Nugegoda, D., 2004b. The salinity tolerance of eggs and hatchlings of selected aquatic macroinvertebrates in south-east Australia and South Africa. Hydrobiologia 517, 179–192.
- Kefford, B., Palmer, C.G., Nugegoda, D., 2005. Relative salinity tolerance of freshwater macroinvertebrates from the south-east Eastern Cape, South Africa, compared with the Barwon Catchment, Victoria, Australia. Mar. Freshwater Res. 56, 163–171.
- Kefford, B.J., Fields, E.J., Clay, C., Nugegoda, D., 2007a. Salinity tolerance of riverine macroinvertebrates from the southern Murray-Darling Basin. Mar. Freshwater Res. 58, 1019–1031.
- Kefford, B., Dunlop, J., Nugegoda, D., Choy, S., 2007b. Understanding salinity thresholds in freshwater biodiversity: freshwater to saline transition. In: Lovett, S., Price, P., Edgar, B. (Eds.), Salt, Nutrient, Sediment and Interactions: Findings from the National River Contaminants Program 9-28. Canberra/Australia.
- Kolbe, R.W., 1927. Zur Ökologie, Morphologie und Systematik der Brackwasserdiatomeen. Die Kieselalgen des Sperenberger Salzgebietes. Pflanzenforsch. H. 7 (Jena), 1–146.
- Mayenco, A.G., 1993. Macroinvertebrate associations in two basins of SW Spain. Arch. Hydrobiol. 124 (4), 473–483.
- Mihailowitsch, B., 1989. Taxonomische und ökologische Untersuchungen an Ciliaten (Protozoa: Ciliophora) in solebelasteten Fließgewässern. Diss. Bonn University, Germany.
- Neumann, D., 1962. Die Analyse limitierender Ionenwirkungen bei Meeres und Süßwassertieren mit Hilfe ökologischer, physiologischer und züchterischer Methoden. Kiel. Meeresforsch. 18, 38–54.
- Nolting, E., Rustige, K.H., 1998. Investigations on ciliate settlement in the Rivers Werra and Weser. Limnologica 28, 255–262.
- Nolting, E., Rustige, K.H., 1999. Salzgehalt. Verbreitungsmuster und Indikatorfunktion von Ciliaten. In: Tümpling, W., Friedrich, G. (Eds.), Biologische Gewässeruntersuchung. Jena, pp. 313–319.
- Piscart, C., Moreteau, J.C., Beisel, J.N., 2005. Biodiversity and structure of macroinvertebrate communities along a small permanent salinity gradient (Meurthe River, France). Hydrobiologia 551, 227–236.
- Piscart, C., Usseglio-Polatera, P., Moreteau, J.C., Beisel, J.N., 2006. The role of salinity in the selection of biological traits of freshwater invertebrates. Arch. Hydrobiol. 166 (2), 185–198.
- Remane, A., 1971. Ecology of brackisch water. In: Elster, H.-J., Ohle, W. (Eds.), Die Binnengewässer 25, 2nd ed. Stuttgart, pp. 1–210.

- Riedel-Lorje, J.C., 1981. Untersuchungen über den Indikationswert von Aufwuchs in Süß- und Brackwasserzonen des Elbe-Ästuars unter Berücksichtigung industrieller Einleitungen. Arch. Hydrobiol. Suppl. 61 (1/2), 153–226.
- Rohde, W., 1949. The ionic composition of lake waters. Verh. Intern. Ver. Limnol. 10, 377–386.
- Rustige, K.H., 1995a. Auswirkungen von Salzbelastungen auf die Ciliatenbesiedlung in Fließgewässern. Ber. Naturwiss. Verein Bielefeld und Umgegend 36, 247–274.
- Rustige, K.H., 1995b. Heliochona scheuterii und Spirochona gemmipara als Besiedler von Gammarus tigrinus. Mikrokosmos 84, 345–348.
- Rustige, K.H., Friedrich, C.H., Külzer, H., 1997. Distribution patterns of sessile ciliates in salt-polluted running waters systems. Limnologica 27, 85–90.
- Rutherford, J.C., Kefford, B.J., 2005. Effects of salinity on stream ecosystems: improving models for macroinvertebrates. In: CSIRO Land and Water Technical Report. CSIRO Land and Water, Canberra, Australia 22/05, pp. 1–64.
- Schaumburg, J., Schranz, C., Stelzer, D., Hofmann, G., Gutowski, A., Foerster, J., 2006. Verfahrensanleitung für die ökologische Bewertung von Fließgewässern zur Umsetzung der EU – Wasserrahmenrichtlinie: Makrophyten und Phytobenthos. 1–124. Bayerisches Landesamt für Umwelt (ed.), München.
- Schönborn, W., 2003. Lehrbuch der Limnologie. Stuttgart.
- Schmitz, W., 1959. Zur Frage der Klassifikation der binnenländischen Brackwässer. Arch. Oceanogr. Limnol. 11 (Suppl.), 179–225.
- Schmitz, W., Besch, W., Kneissl, I., 1967. Die Salzgehaltstoleranz von Gammarus pulex (L.), Gammarus tigrinus Sexton und Asellus aquaticus (L.) in Abhängigkeit von der relativen Konzentration der Kationen Na, Mg, K und Ca. Int. Rev. Ges. Hydrobiol. 52, 589–616.
- Schulz, C.-J., 2000. Auswirkungen rückläufiger Salzgehalte auf die Ökologie mehrerer Fließgewässer Nordthüringens. Wasser und Boden 52, 27–33.
- Schulz, C.-J., Bellstedt, R., 2000. Die Wipper. Verödung und Wiederbesiedlung eines Flusses im ehemaligen Kalirevier "Südharz", dargestellt am Beispiel aquatischer Insekten. Abh. Ber. Mus. Nat. Gotha 21, 103–110.
- Short, T.M., Black, J.A., Birge, W.J., 1991. Ecology of a saline stream: community responses to spatial gradients of environmental conditions. Hydrobiologia 22, 167–178.
- Sim, L.L., Davis, J.A., Chambers, J.M., Strehlow, K., 2007. Understanding thresholds in the transition from saline to hypersaline aquatic ecosystems: South-west Western Australia. In: Lovett, S., Price, P., Edgar, B. (Eds.), Salt, Nutrient, Sediments and Interactions: Findings from the National River Contaminants Program. CSIRO Land & Water, Australia, pp. 29–40.
- Simonsen, R., 1962. Untersuchungen zur Systematik und Ökologie der Bodendiatomeen der westlichen Ostsee. Int. Rev. Ges. Hydrobiol./Systematische Beihefte 1, 1–144.
- Snoeijs, P., 1999. Diatoms and environmental change in brackish waters. In: Stoermer, E.F., Smol, J.P. (Eds.), The Diatoms: Applications for the Environmental and Earth Sciences. Cambridge, pp. 298–333.
- Strecker, S., 1997. Vergleichende Untersuchungen der Auswirkungen unterschiedlicher Salzgehalte und Ionenspektren auf die Lebensgemeinschaften versalzter Oberflächengewässer in Osthessen. Schriftenreihe der HLFU (Wiesbaden): Umweltplanung, Arbeits-u. Umweltschutz 243, 1–288.
- Velasco, J., Millan, A., Hernandez, J., Gutierrez, C., Abellan, P., Sanchez, D., Ruiz, R., 2006. Response of biotic communities to salinity changes in a Mediterranean hypersaline stream. Saline Syst. 2, 12, doi:10.1186/1746-1448-2-12.
- Williams, W.D., 1981. Inland salt lakes: an introduction. Hydrobiologia 81, 1–14.
- Williams, W.D., 1999. Salinisation: a major threat to water resources in the arid and semi-arid regions of the world. Lakes Reservoirs: Res. Manage. 4, 85–91.
- Zalizniak, L., Kefford, B.J., Nugegoda, D., 2006. Is all salinity the same? I. The effect of ionic compositions on the salinity tolerance of five species of freshwater invertebrates. Mar. Freshwater Res. 57, 75–82.
- Ziemann, H., 1967. Die Wirkung der Kaliabwässer auf die Flora und Fauna der Gewässer unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Werra und Wipper. Fortschr. Wasserchemie 7, 50–80.
- Ziemann, H., 1968. On the ecological classification of inland saline waters. Water Res. 2, 449–457.
- Ziemann, H., 1971. Die Wirkung des Salzgehaltes auf die Diatomeenflora als Grundlage f
 ür eine biologische Analyse und Klassifikation der Binnengewässer. Limnologica 8, 505–525.
- Ziemann, H., 1981. Die biologische Wirkung des Salzgehaltes als Kriterium der Wasserbeschaffenheit. Wasserwirtsch. Wassertechnik 31, 169–172.
- Ziemann, H., 1997a. The influence of different ion ratios on the biological effect of salinity in running waters of Thuringia (Germany). Limnologica 27, 19–28.
- Ziemann, H., 1997b. Zur Frage der Klassifikation limnischer Gewässer auf der Basis der Chloridkonzentration. In: Jahrestagung (Schwedt) 1996 der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Limnologie (DGL), Krefeld (Germany), pp. 687–691.
- Ziemann, H., 1999. Salzgehalt. Bestimmung des Halobienindex. In: Tümpling, W., Friedrich, G. (Eds.), Biologische Gewässeruntersuchung. Jena, pp. 309–313.
- Ziemann, H., Kies, L., Schulz, C.-J., 2001. Desalinization of running waters: III. Changes in the structure of diatom assemblages caused by a decreasing salt load and changing ion spectra in the River Wipper (Thuringia, Germany). Limnologica 31, 257–280.
- Ziemann, H., 2002. Beitrag zur Diatomeenflora der Solquelle bei Numburg. Abh. Ber. Mus. Nat. Gotha 22, 89–96.
- Ziemann, H., 2005. Die ökologische Bewertung der Versalzung th
 üringischer Gew
 ässer auf der Grundlage des Halobienindexes. Acta Acad. Sci. 9, 49–67.
- Ziemann, H., 2006. Diatomeen aus der Unstrut bei Oldisleben aus den Jahren 1963/64 und 2004/2005 – ein Vergleich. Abh. Ber. Mus. Nat. Gotha 23, 107–114.